
          TOWN OF JEROME 
                  POST OFFICE BOX 335, JEROME, ARIZONA  (928) 634-7943 

 
   AGENDA 

                                      Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
                Tuesday, April 19, 2022, 6:00 pm 
                                                           Jerome Civic Center, 600 Clark Street, Jerome Arizona, 86331 
 
Members of the public are welcome to participate in the meeting via the following options: By computer at https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9286347943 or  
by telephone at 1 669 900 683. The Meeting ID is 928 634 7943. A drive-up internet hotspot is now available in the parking lot in front of the Jerome Public Library. The network is 
Sparklight Yavapai Free Wi-Fi, and no password is required. Please submit comments/questions at least one hour prior to the meeting to Zoning Administrator William Blodgett at 
w.blodgett@jerome.az.gov. 

 
Item 1: Call to order 
 
Item 2: Petitions from the public – Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.01(H), public comment is permitted on matters not listed on the agenda, but the subject matter must be 
within the jurisdiction of the commission. All comments are subject to reasonable time, place, and manner restrictions. All petitioners must fill out a request form with their name and 
subject matter. When recognized by the chair, please state your name and please observe the three (3)-minute time limit. No petitioners will be recognized without a request. The 
commission’s response to public comments is limited to asking staff to review a matter commented upon, asking that a matter be put on a future agenda, or responding to criticism.  
Possible Direction to Staff 

 
Item 3: Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting of February 16, 2022, Joint Special meeting of February 22, and the Regular meeting of March 
16, 2022. 
 
Old (continued) Business: none 
 
New Business:  
Item 4: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for Apartments in C-1 
Applicant/Owner: Dewayne Woodworth 
Zone: C-1 
Address: 123 Hill Street      APN: 401-07-169A 
Applicant is seeking a conditional use permit for three residential apartments within the C-1 zone. 
Discussion/Possible Action  
 
Item 5: Renewed approval for accessory feature (Generator) 
Applicant/Owner: Mike Gray / James Keenan 
Zone: R1-5 
Address: 103 Dundee Avenue     APN: 401-11-015M 
Applicant is seeking to install a back-up Generator at 103 Dundee. Project was previously approved but the permit was allowed to 
expire and the applicant is renewing the process to begin construction. 
Discussion/Possible Action  
 
Meeting Updates: 
Item 6: Updates of recent and upcoming meetings   

• March 30 BOA meeting – Meeting cancelled until further notice. 
• April 4 DRB special meeting – Approved the minutes of the regular meeting of February 7, 2022. Approved amendment to 

the DRB bylaws regarding meeting dates, changing to the fourth Tuesday of each month. 
• April 12 Council meeting – Approved the minutes from both the February 22nd special meeting and the March 8th regular 

meeting. Approved Resolution 637 awarding the Dundee waterline contract. Approved Resolution 638 awarding contract for 
drainage improvements. No action was taken on resolution 639 and Ordinance 482 regarding the 2018 edition of the 
international residential code. 

Item 7: Potential items for May’s Planning & Zoning meeting, Tuesday May, 17 – Discussion of definitions within the Zoning 
Ordinance relating to land use. 

 
Item 8: Adjourn 

 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that this notice and agenda was posted at the following locations on or before 6 p.m. on _________________________________________       
970 Gulch Road, side of Gulch fire station, exterior posting case ۞ 600 Clark Street, Jerome Town Hall, exterior posting case ۞ 120 Main Street, Jerome Post Office, interior posting case  
  

  
Kristen Muenz, Deputy Town Clerk, Attest 

 
 
Persons with a disability may request reasonable accommodations such as a sign language interpreter by contacting Town Hall at (928) 634-7943. Requests should be made as early as possible to allow enough 
time to make arrangements.  
 
 
 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9286347943
mailto:w.blodgett@jerome.az.gov


          TOWN OF JEROME 
                  POST OFFICE BOX 335, JEROME, ARIZONA  (928) 634-7943 

 
    
 
 
MINUTES 

                                      Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
                Wednesday, February 16, 2022, 6:00 pm 
                                                                               CONDUCTED VIA ZOOM 
 
 

6:05 (0:21) Item 1: Call to order 
Chair Schall called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m.  
Deputy Town Clerk Rosa Cays called the roll. Present were Chair Schall and Commissioners Jeanie Ready, Jera Peterson, and Lori Riley. Vice 
Chair Romberger joined the meeting at 6:08 p.m. Also present were new Zoning Administrator Will Blodgett and Town Manager/Clerk Candace 
Gallagher.  
 
6:06 (1:04) Item 2: Petitions from the public – There were no petitions from the public.  
 
6:06 (1:16) Item 3: Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting of January 19, 2022 [Typo on agenda; year corrected for the minutes] 

 
Motion to approve the minutes of the January 19, 2022 regular P&Z meeting 
  

Commissioner   Moved   Second   Aye  Nay  Absent  Abstain 

Peterson   X    
Ready X  X    
Riley  X X    

Romberger   X    

Schall   X    

 
Old (continued) Business: none 
 
New Business:  
6:08 (3:07) Item 4: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for winetasting room 
Applicant/Owner: Doajo Hicks/Two Vines Vineyard 
Zone: C-1 
Address: 515 Main Street      APN: 401-06-090 
Applicant is seeking a conditional use permit to open a winetasting room in an existing building in the same location 
previously occupied by Zen Mountain Gallery.  
Discussion/Possible Action  
Ms. Cays announced that the applicant was present. Chair Schall called a point of order to acknowledge that Vice Chair Romberger had joined the 
meeting.  
Mr. Blodgett introduced the item to the commissioners and clarified that a winetasting room falls under the definition of “spirituous liquor tasting 
facility” according to the zoning ordinance and those are treated like retail businesses. He said the bottom level of the building has been used as 
retail space since 1910 and that the liquor license for a winetasting room limits the amount of consumable spirits on the premises. Mr. Blodgett said 
one potential concern is the seating arrangement presented in the application. He referred to the definitions on page 21 of the zoning ordinance and 
the regulation regarding dining room seating under the definition of spirituous liquor tasting facility, and also brought up the definition of dining room 
seating from a previous zoning administrator. Mr. Blodgett said parking is another a concern, but that it did not appear to be an issue in this case 
since the previous business in the same space was retail, thus there would be no change in intensity of the business. He referred to Section 510, 
D.1.t (pages 84–85) of the zoning ordinance and said the square footage of the usable space requires three parking spaces.  
Chair Schall said that winetasting rooms are historically retail, therefore not a more intensive use, so the parking situation is not a problem. However, 
he said the seating may be in question and that “we don’t want the place to turn into a restaurant … or bar.” Chair Schall said some of this is 
controlled by a liquor license or the health department and would require inspection of the kitchen, fire safety and health concerns, etc. He asked the 
applicant if the tables and chairs could be replaced with sofas or something more casual.  
(10:36) Mr. Hicks said they could, that they have plenty of furniture. He said he was wanting to accommodate larger parties.  
Commissioner Peterson commented further on the furniture and said she was concerned about the three parking spaces. She mentioned that Vino 
Zona has their parking set aside and wondered if Mr. Hicks had parking available.  
Mr. Blodgett said his calculations come out to the need for three spaces. He has not investigated if the spaces actually existed previously. Ms. 
Peterson asked if off-street parking included the curb parking in front of the building across the highway. Chair Schall said Vino Zona made special 



P a g e  2 | 4 

arrangements for their parking and that the previous business in the building, Zen Mountain Gallery, was there for a long time and had the “famous 
pretend spaces.” Ms. Peterson understood that the conditional use did not transfer. Chair Schall explained that the conditional use would not transfer 
if the use and intensity of use were to change and the new business needed more parking spaces. He said the use and intensity are not changing in 
this case. 
Ms. Cays clarified that the parking for Vino Zona is reserved and leased from private property and not counted as public parking in the commercial 
district. 
Mr. Hicks said he was told by the town’s counsel that he would not need additional parking.  
Commissioner Ready asked when considering parking requirements for businesses and residents in the downtown area, if it was a matter of total 
available parking spaces and whether there are enough spaces to accommodate the existing businesses, or rather “these are your designated 
spots.”  
Chair Schall said neither one, although some businesses have designated spaces on private property within the commercial district. He said if the 
building is in the C1 zone, it may have parking on private property. He further explained that if someone has a long-existing use and floor space 
determines they have 10 parking spaces, it is assumed they have that use (those 10 parking spaces). If the use is intensified, then more parking is 
required. 
Ms. Ready said she understood this, but wondered if there are enough public spots to accommodate patronage for the various businesses. Chair 
Schall said there may or may not be, and that he did not think anyone has ever counted the number of parking spaces needed for all the businesses 
in the commercial district. A brief discussion ensued. 
Ms. Gallagher explained what Town Attorney Bill Sims had said about parking. She read from his email. 
Ms. Peterson asked if the parking requirements were the same and already established, which they were.  
Commissioner Riley suggested to Mr. Hicks that two couches and a coffee table would accommodate larger parties.  
Ms. Peterson asked Chair Schall if the item needed to be tabled until the business is set up with the required seating. Chair Schall said he was not 
inclined to table the item but that a condition could be included in the CUP. Ms. Peterson asked if they could require the applicant to resubmit a 
furniture floor plan. Ms. Riley said she did not think it was necessary to table the item.  
Mr. Blodgett replied that enough enforcement measures are in the ordinance should Mr. Hicks set up the largest dining room seating ever seen. “We 
have the teeth,” said Mr. Blodgett. Chair Schall said the CUP could be revoked if the applicant does not comply with the zoning ordinance.  
(24:45) Mr. Hicks said he could easily revise the rough diagram in his application and send it to Ms. Gallagher. He stated that he is not an architect 
and that what he created was to simply show what his intentions were and that the diagram was not even to scale. 
Ms. Ready suggested adding a condition to the approval so the item did not have to be revisited at the next meeting. Ms. Riley agreed with this 
suggestion. 
Chair Schall moved to approve the conditional use permit with the added condition that the seating in the winetasting room not be dining room 
seating and that the applicant understands that the CUP could be withdrawn if the condition is not met.  

Motion to approve the conditional use permit for the winetasting room at 515 Main Street  
with the condition that the seating not be dining room seating  
  

Commissioner Moved   Second Aye Nay Absent Abstain 

Peterson   X    
Ready   X    
Riley  X X    

Romberger   X    

Schall X  X    

 
[The number 5 was inadvertently skipped when agenda items were listed, so they jump from Item 4 to Item 6.] 

 
6:32 (27:13) Item 6: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for residence 
Applicant/Owner: Doajo Hicks/Two Vines Vineyard 
Zone: C-1 
Address: 515 Main Street      APN: 401-06-090 
Applicant is seeking a conditional use permit for an upstairs residence in an existing building that has housed a residence 
in the same space for many years.  
Discussion/Possible Action  
Mr. Blodgett introduced the item after a brief exchange with Chair Schall. He said the building was constructed in 1910 and that the upper level had 
been a residence since 1924, or for 98 years. Mr. Blodgett explained that it was a legal nonconforming situation and that there will be no 
modifications to the structure, per Mr. Hicks.  
Chair Schall said as a point of clarification, that because of the change of ownership, a new conditional use permit is required. 
Ms. Peterson asked if parking and other requirements carried over to the new ownership, which it does.  
Ms. Riley welcomed Mr. Hicks, who thanked everyone and said he would be sending a revised diagram of the seating in the winetasting room to Ms. 
Gallagher. 



P a g e  3 | 4 

Motion to approve the conditional use permit for the upstairs residence at 515 Main Street 
 

Commissioner   Moved   Second   Aye  Nay  Absent  Abstain 

Peterson   X    
Ready   X    
Riley   X    

Romberger  X X    

Schall X  X    

 
6:35 (30:30) Item 7: Elimination of P&Z resolutions 
Members of the Jerome Town Council and constituents have expressed their concerns about the use of resolutions for 
planning and zoning (and design review) matters and feel they are unnecessary—and not required—and may influence 
decisions made by the commission. Staff reports would continue to be part of the agenda packets, and notices of decision 
would serve as the documentation of the commission’s ruling. Staff would like the commission’s view on this issue. 
Discussion 
Mr. Blodgett stated that since he was new to this, he would be listening and learning. 
Chair Schall said that resolutions were started by the former zoning administrator, John Knight, which the chair saw as a simplification of the 
documentation process, but that councilmembers are uncomfortable with it for one reason or another. Chair Schall said he had no objection to the 
process and that it is easier for the staff to document decisions—but that it is also more work. Chair Schall read an email from Jerome resident 
Margie Hardie regarding the use of resolutions.  
Ms. Peterson remarked that she had no problem with having things checked over and that nothing should be rushed through.  
Chair Schall said he had no problem with oversight and could appreciate Ms. Hardie’s concern with the Open Meeting Law. He said it was a matter 
of records organization and that the alternative to the resolution is that the commission would craft their own motion rather than signifying the 
resolution as part of the motion. He said whether the motion refers to the resolution or item number does not seem to change the fact that anyone 
interested in knowing more about the item would have to refer to the agenda packet, which is not included with the minutes. Ms. Ready agreed with 
Chair Schall, who said he was not sure what the issue is.  
Ms. Ready said that the commission was always going to get staff recommendations and that staff is integral to planning and zoning and providing 
the information needed for the commission to make decisions. She said perhaps it was the way the resolutions were worded and that the public 
perception was that staff was predetermining what the commission was going to decide, which to her was never the case. She suggested “shoring 
things up” so that the process and decision making are clearer.  
Chair Schall said he never felt that staff recommendations tied his hands at all. He said past zoning administrators would state their 
recommendations, which is not much different than including a resolution. Chair Schall said he could see how Council may have this perception but 
that it was not his, and that the resolutions could be revised or eliminated. To him it was a matter of recordkeeping for the zoning administrator.  
Ms. Ready said her perception from past experience on various boards, including as secretary to a board, was that meeting minutes cover what is 
discussed and that motions always have supporting documentation, not just what is written in the meeting minutes. She said not everything needs to 
be included in the minutes. 
Chair Schall said including everything in the minutes would be a transcription of the meeting. “And not required,” said Ms. Ready.   
Ms. Gallagher said she spoke with Mr. Sims about the Open Meeting Law violation, a serious accusation, and that he said it was a matter of 
perception, that the resolutions could be perceived as “rubberstamping” each decision, but that resolutions were not a violation of the Open Meeting 
Law. Ms. Gallagher said resolutions are a matter of transparency for the public and are posted on the town website, which makes it easy for the 
public to find and see what happened regarding decisions made at a meeting. Ms. Gallagher said Mr. Sims had suggested two options in brackets 
be included in the resolution before each “whereas” statement: “[  ] approve” or “[  ] disapprove,” and that the text of the resolution could be included 
in the minutes.  
Chair Schall mentioned that a joint meeting would be scheduled soon with Council and DRB to further discuss the issue. 
 
6:52 (47:03) Item 8: Election of new officers, chair and vice chair 
Chair Schall said that commission terms are three years but that a commissioner could not be chair for more than two consecutive years. He asked if 
anyone would like to volunteer to be the next chair. 
Ms. Ready nominated Mr. Romberger to be chair, who said he did not feel qualified to do it. 
Ms. Peterson nominated Ms. Ready to be chair.  
Ms. Peterson asked if Mr. Romberger could remain as vice chair. Chair Schall offered to be the vice chair. 

Motion to elect Commissioner Jeanie Ready as the next P&Z chair 
  

Commissioner Moved Second Aye Nay Absent Abstain 

Peterson X  X    
Ready   X    
Riley  X X    

Romberger   X    

Schall   X    



P a g e  4 | 4 

 
Motion to elect Commissioner Lance Schall as the next P&Z vice chair 

  

Commissioner Moved Second Aye Nay Absent Abstain 

Peterson   X    
Ready  X X    
Riley X  X    

Romberger   X    

Schall   X    

 
Meeting Updates: 
6:56 (51:44) Item 9: Updates of recent and upcoming meetings   

• February 3 special Council meeting – applicants interviewed for zoning administrator position 
• February 7 DRB meeting – Cornish Pasty sign; shipping container 
• February 8 Council meeting – Sign ordinance adopted at second reading; short-term rental ordinance adopted 

at second reading; adoption of fire code resolution to adopt 2018 edition as public record; CUP for shipping 
container approved; COVID – keep town hall closed, meetings in public  

Mr. Blodgett updated the commission on recent meetings. A brief discussion ensued about Cornish Pasty and the history of pasties. 
Ms. Peterson said she had talked to Ms. Gallagher who told her that P&Z can continue with Zoom meetings if that was the preference. Ms. Cays 
explained that over the last several months, if one person on a board was not ready to meet in person, it determined that the meeting would be held 
via Zoom.   
Ms. Ready said she was more comfortable meeting online for now. Ms. Peterson agreed, as did Ms. Riley and Chair Schall.   
 
7:01 (56:30) Item 10: Potential items for Wednesday, March 16, 2022 –  No items at this time. 
Ms. Ready asked if any of the commissioners’ terms were ending. She asked if volunteers could continue at the end of a term, which Chair Schall 
confirmed they could.  
Ms. Riley asked about the short-term rental ordinance. Ms. Gallagher explained that it mirrors what Sedona is doing and that it is part of the Town 
Code. She explained that all transient lodging is included, what is required, and what the penalties are.  

 
Item 11: Adjourn 

Motion to adjourn at 7:04 p.m. 

Commissioner Moved Second Aye Nay Absent Abstain 

Peterson   X    
Ready  X X    
Riley   X    

Romberger   X    

Schall X  X    
 
 
 
 
 

Approved:           Date:     
 Chair Schall, Planning & Zoning Commission Chair 
 
 
Attest:          Date:     

Kristen Muenz, Deputy Town Clerk 
 

 
 



TOWN OF JEROME 
 

POST OFFICE BOX 335, JEROME, ARIZONA 86331 
(928) 634-7943        www.jerome.az.gov 

                              
 

Jerome Town Hall Located at 600 Clark Street, Jerome Civic Center 

 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
SPECIAL JOINT MEETING OF THE JEROME TOWN COUNCIL, 

THE JEROME PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION, and  
THE JEROME DESIGN REVIEW BOARD 

VIA ZOOM 
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 22, 2022 at 4:00 PM 

 

ITEM #1: 
4:00 pm 
(0:10) 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
Mayor/Chairperson to call meeting to order.   

Mayor Jack Dillenberg called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.  
 
Town Clerk to call and record the roll for Town Council.  

Town Manager/Clerk Candace Gallagher performs roll call for Council. Mayor Jack Dillenberg, 
Councilmembers Alex Barber, Sage Harvey and Jane Moore are present. Vice Mayor Mandy Worth was 
not present. 
 
Deputy Clerk to call and record the roll for Planning & Zoning Commission and Design Review Board. 

Deputy Town Clerk Rosa Cays performs roll call for Design Review Board and Planning and Zoning 
Commission. Present were P&Z Chair Lance Schall, Vice Chair Chuck Romberger, and Commissioner Jera 
Peterson. Present for DRB were Chair Tyler Christensen, Vice chair Brice Wood, Board members Carol 
Wittner, Mimi Romberger, and John McDonald. Not present were P&Z Commissioners Jeanie Ready 
and Lori Riley. 

ITEM #2: 
4:04 pm 
(2:22) 

RESOLUTIONS AND OTHER ITEMS OF MUTUAL INTEREST 
Members of the Jerome Town Council, Planning & Zoning Commission, and Design Review Board will discuss 
the use of resolutions and other items of mutual interest. 
 
Mayor Jack Dillenberg thanks all the board members for attending. Candace Gallagher introduces the 
topic at hand and asks Councilmember Jane Moore to speak of the concerns over the use of resolutions 
by the boards brought up by herself and Board of Adjustment member Margie Hardy. 

(3:35) Moore explains that what they receive in their council packets for P&Z and DRB includes the 
resolution number and whether it was approved. There’s nothing for them to review as far as 
discussion goes, without going to the audio files, to learn about the actions taken by the boards. (5:00) 
She mentions that Planning and Zoning meetings are often over a week before council meetings, which 
seems to her to be enough time to get the full minutes. Moore mentions that DRB meets right before 
Council, and there’s been discussion about having both those meetings moved to allow for more time. 
Her biggest objection is that just the resolution in the minutes does not allow council to look at the 
other board’s actions and to be able to make decisions. 

(6:35) Moore also comments that the Board of Adjustment is a quasi-judicial board and resolutions 
may not be appropriate for that board. She suggests that perhaps they need legal advice prior to their 
meetings. 

Dillenberg asks for other comments. 

(7:06) Councilmember Sage Harvey agrees with Moore, and states that when she looks at the packets 
and only sees a resolution, she feels she does not have enough information as a councilmember. She 



  

will then do more research and read different minutes. Harvey thinks it would be beneficial to not have 
resolutions and would rather see all the information. 

(7:42) Councilmember Alex Barber comments that they were previously getting minutes in their 
entirety and were told that the reason they received abbreviated minutes was lack of staff. The Deputy 
Clerk was handling Planning and Zoning tasks, but now the Town has a new Zoning Administrator. She 
states that the previous ZA, John Knight, was the one who started doing the resolutions. Also, that Al 
Sengstock, the ZA before Mr. Knight, didn’t do resolutions. She agrees with Moore’s and Harvey’s 
comments and comments that when the boards are looking at a resolution, it seems like there is 
already a thought process behind it. She believes it is better for the boards to have open dialogue, and 
not to have a resolution that’s already stating, as could be perceived, the ZA’s opinion for the 
outcome. 

(9:55) P&Z Commissioner Jera Peterson agrees that she wants transparency and complete discussion. 
She believes there is no reason to hurry things through. The town should be considered, especially the 
historic part of it. 

(10:25) DRB vice chair Brice Wood comments that sometimes the language needs a little clarification 
between what a resolution is, versus an ordinance change, versus what a recommendation is and 
where these things fit in with public face of the board, as well as what goes on internally. 

(10:58) P&Z chair Schall comments that it seems council wants more information in their minutes. He 
believes John Knight started using resolutions for his own record keeping process. If a councilmember 
is interested in a detail regarding a decision, that information would not be in the resolution or the 
original motion. Instead, the details regarding what happens during meetings would be filed in P&Z’s 
records. Schall comments that he doesn’t believe that resolutions pre-suppose the case, but if that is 
the impression they give, he believes that is a good reason to stop using them. 

(14:40) Harvey comments that she does feel that the resolutions are leading. She also wants to make 
sure that council gets the full information in their packets. 

(15:08) DRB Chair Tyler Christensen agrees with Schall. He saw the resolutions as an organizational tool 
but has no problem doing away with them if they are perceived as an issue. 

Dillenberg then asks ZA Blodgett if he has any questions. 

(15:47) Blodgett comments that he is willing to follow council’s direction. He agrees with the 
importance of being open and transparent. 

(16:30) Chuck Romberger agrees with Schall as well. He comments that the issue with resolutions may 
be in the name, and perhaps they can be called suggestions. He also agreed that council should have a 
full set of notes along with a resolution or proposal in their packets for full information. 

(18:07) Moore explains that council has a limited amount of time to review decisions by the other 
boards and, if they wait to see the full minutes in the next meeting, it’s too late to send something 
back. Having a recording in writing of comments that the public makes, or any comments that 
someone wants to make regarding the proposal, will give council the opportunity to investigate what 
people are saying. All they are getting is the resolution and whether it was approved or discussed. She 
also feels that it takes too much time for council to have to listen to the audio files for an entire 
meeting. She thinks resolutions complicate council’s ability to understand the actions taken by the 
other boards. 

(20:10) Christensen asks if DRB needs to change the date of their meetings to accommodate the 
gathering of information. 

Dillenberg agrees that is a great idea. 

(21:23) Schall suggests that they add wording to the resolution to clarify that it may or may not be 
approved by the commission. He comments that there’s a line at the bottom of each resolution for the 



  

commission chair’s signature to show it was reviewed and approved. He also does not believe 
resolutions were ever intended as a substitution for adequate minutes. 

(23:55) Peterson suggests that if the boards prefer having full minutes first, perhaps change the 
wording from resolutions, which sound final, to recommendation. 

(24:30) Woods comments that board’s decisions are sometimes simple, and to call them resolutions 
sounds like an improvement for the future that is not currently in the ordinance. He agrees that the 
timing of the meetings could be arranged into a sequence to allow P&Z meetings first, then DRB, and 
finally council. He believes it used to be that way. 

(27:48) Candace Gallagher explains that the topic is agendized for action.  

Dillenberg asks if there is anyone who disagrees with the consensus to do away with resolutions and no 
one responds. 

Candace states that it’s just a matter of discontinuing the practice and does not require formal action. 
She asks if council wants full draft minutes in their packets before they have been approved by the 
individual boards. 

(29:03) Moore comments that she doesn’t believe approval is necessary, she would like to see the 
actions and comments from the board members and public. 

Dillenberg comments that the pre-approved draft minutes would still help guide their discussion. He 
also agrees that it may be necessary to change the dates of the DRB meetings. 

Moore asks for clarification on if resolutions were voted on and Candace Gallagher explains that they 
were not. 

(32:24) Schall comments that they should try to keep their processes as efficient as possible for the 
applicants.  

(36:03) Christensen mentions that there were some meetings that had to be adjusted due to holidays. 
He suggests that someone puts a new schedule together for the boards to review. 

(37:55) Candace Gallagher confirms that staff will work on a new schedule to present to council and the 
boards. 

There is general discussion of the best arrangement of the meetings. 

(42:41) Moore mentions that she attends meetings in other communities and finds reading the minutes 
helpful, especially the comments from those attending the meeting. 

(44:44) Peterson suggests that all the meetings take place on Tuesdays, one week apart. 

 
ITEM #3 
4:48 p.m. 

ADJOURNMENT  
    Motion to adjourn at 12:34 p.m. 

 

COUNCILMEMBER MOTION SECOND AYE NAY ABSENT ABSTAIN 
BARBER   X    
DILLENBERG   X    
HARVEY X 

 
X    

MOORE 
 

X X    
WORTH  

  
 X  

 

APPROVE: ATTEST:  
 
 
 ______________________________________________  _______________________________________________ 
 Jeanie Ready, Planning & Zoning Commission Chair  Kristen Muenz, Deputy Town Clerk 
 

 
 Date:        



          TOWN OF JEROME 
                  POST OFFICE BOX 335, JEROME, ARIZONA  (928) 634-7943 

 
  DRAFT MINUTES 

                                      Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
                Wednesday, March 16, 2022, 6:00 pm 
                                                                               CONDUCTED VIA ZOOM 
 
6:06 (0:06) Item 1: Call to order 
Chair Ready called the meeting to order at 6:06 p.m.  
Deputy Town Clerk Kristen Muenz called the roll. Present were Chair Jeanie Ready, Vice Chair Lance Schall, and Commissioners Chuck Romberger 
and Jera Peterson. Also present were Zoning Administrator Will Blodgett and Town Manager/Clerk Candace Gallagher.  
 
6:07 (0:12) Item 2: Petitions from the public – There were no petitions from the public.  
 
6:08 (1:17) Item 3: Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting of February 16, 2022 
Zoning Administrator Will Blodget explains that the February 16th minutes were left out of the meeting packets mistakenly, and the Commissioners can table 
the approval until the next meeting. 
 
 

Motion to table the minutes of the February 16, 2022 regular P&Z meeting 
  

Commissioner   Moved   Second   Aye  Nay  Absent  Abstain 

Peterson X  X    
Ready   X    
Riley     X  

Romberger   X    

Schall  X X    

 
Old (continued) Business: none 
 
New Business:  
6:09 (2:53) Item 4: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for Apartments in C-1 
Applicant/Owner: Caden Williams 
Zone: C-1 
Address: 511 Main Street      APN: 401-06-089 
Applicant is seeking a conditional use permit for three residential apartments within the C-1 zone. 
Discussion/Possible Action 
ZA Blodgett reads the summary from the applicant, Caden Williams, for 511 Main/School Street. 
Commissioner Peterson asks for some clarification on the packet, whether it is meant to be section 302, or section 501 for a nonconforming situation. 
Blodgett states that may be an oversite that he needs to correct. 
Chair Ready ask if the building was previously a nonconforming use. 
Blodgett states that, yes, it was a nonconforming use in C-1 zone. 
Peterson asks for clarification on if it is a combination of nonconforming and conditional use 
Blodgett explains that the apartment is a nonconforming use. 
Commissioner Schall asks if the building has been 2 apartments and 1 bookstore and is now proposed to be 3 apartments. 
Blodgett confirms that is the case. 
Schall brings up the parking. He reads from the application “Applicant wishes to apply for 3 off-street parking spaces for apartments.” He states that this board 
does not grant parking and that it’s a separate issue. 
There is some discussion as to the current parking permit application process. 
Ready comments that it’s just a matter if it conforms to the ordinance for required parking spaces. Since its not changing use, it has same parking required as 
before. 
Schall says as the use is less intensive, there wouldn’t be any additional parking requirements. 
Ready agrees. 
Peterson comments that it seems the building is going back to how it was originally used. 

 
 
 
 
Motion to approve the conditional use permit for apartments in C-1 Zone  
 

Commissioner Moved Second Aye Nay Absent Abstain 



P a g e  2 | 3 

Peterson  X X    
Ready   X    
Riley     X  

Romberger   X    

Schall X  X    

 
 

 
6:17 (10:50) Item 5: Amendment to P&Z Bylaws re: Meeting Dates 
The Commission will review a proposed change in regular meeting dates from the third Wednesday of each month to the 
third Tuesday of each month and may approve a change to the Commission’s bylaws in this regard.  
ZA Blodgett explains the proposal is to change the dates from the 3rd Wednesday to the 3rd Tuesday to normalize the structure of the meetings for Town 
Council, Design Review Board and the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
Schall comments that the proposal sounds good, the meetings would be in the right order 
Peterson asks for clarification of the order. 
Candace clarifies that Council will be on the 2nd Tuesday of each month, P&Z on the 3rd and DRB on the 4th, which would give staff 2 weeks to get the minutes 
together for the council packets. 
There is some discussion to confirm that everyone understands the proposed schedule changes, and no one has a conflict with the day of the week 

Motion to approve Amendment to P&Z Bylaws re: Meeting Dates  
 

Commissioner Moved Second Aye  Nay Absent Abstain 

Peterson X  X     
Ready   X     
Riley      X  

Romberger   X     

Schall  X X     

 
 
 
Meeting Updates: 
6:22 (15:35) Item 6: Updates of recent and upcoming meetings   

• February 17 BOA meeting – variance approved for setback on 776 East Avenue. 
• March 7 DRB meeting – Canceled 
• March 8 Council meeting – Second reading and adoption of the 2018 International Fire Code, second reading 

and adoption of new residency requirements for Town Manager and Clerk. Renewed appointments to the 
planning and zoning commission and the board of adjustment. Approval of two conditional use permits for 515 
Main Street, a winetasting room and a residential apartment in the C-1 district. Council noted needed changes to 
definitions in the Zoning Ordinance regarding Spiritous Liquor Tasting Facilities and dining room seating.  
 ZA Blodgett gave updates on recent meetings. Schall asks if the residency requirement is the removal of the requirement that the Town 
Manager live in town. Blodgett confirms this is the case. 
Peterson asks what changes were needed to the spiritous liquor and dining room seating. 
Blodgett explains that Council requested more specific definitions of the two items in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

6:27 (20:34) Item 7: Potential items for Tuesday, April 19, 2022 – New definitions for Spiritous Liquor Tasting Facility 
and Dining Room Seating. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Item 8: Adjourn 

 
Motion to adjourn at 6:28 p.m.   
 

Commissioner Moved Second Aye Nay Absent Abstain 

Peterson  X X    



P a g e  3 | 3 

Ready X  X    
Riley     X  

Romberger   X    

Schall   X    
 
 
 
Approved:           Date:     
 Chair Ready, Planning & Zoning Commission Chair 
 
 
Attest:          Date:     

Kristen Muenz, Deputy Town Clerk 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 8 
 

           TOWN OF JEROME 
                      Post Office Box 335, Jerome, Arizona 86331 

                                            (928) 634-7943 

 

                                       Staff Report 
                                                    Planning and Zoning Commission 
                                                     Tuesday, April 19, 2022 
 
Item :  Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for Residential Apartments 
Location:   123 Hill Street  
Applicant/Owner:  Dewayne Woodworth 
Zone:    C-1 
APN:    401-07-169A  
Prepared by:  Will Blodgett, Zoning Administrator 
Discussion/Possible Action  
 
Summary: The applicant requests approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow use of 
residential apartments on the second, and third floors. Commercial Gallery space is intended on the 
first floor, with two Residential apartments on the second floor, and an owner-occupied apartment on 
the third floor. Yavapai county provided the following information about the property; Constructed in 
1920 with three floors, the building’s uses originally were commercial retail with “mixed office units”.  
 
Use Interpretation: The building is located within the Town of Jerome’s C-1 Commercial district, and 
as such the retail location on the Clark street frontage is a permitted use, while the Apartments located 
on the second and third floors are considered “existing non-conforming uses” which are conditionally 
permitted under section 507.C.-1: Any “permitted” or “conditional” uses in the “R1-10”, “R1-5” and “R-2” 
zones.  
  
Response: The Commission has authority to recommend approval of a use that is listed as a 
conditional use in the Town Zoning Ordinance. The Commissions recommendation will be forwarded to 
Council for final approval. 
 
Background: The building at 123 Hill street is a three-level building constructed in 1920 as a Hospital 
and known locally as the “Jerome Clubhouse” today. The Architectural of the structure can be 
described as Eclectic/Mission style, with asymmetrical tri-level main section with an arch at the 1st and 
2nd level doors. A wrought iron balcony railing common to Spanish Eclectic styling exists on the 
structure. Construction materials used were concrete, masonry and wood with stucco. 
 
 
Parking: Parking requirements for the Retail use remain at 1 space for 300sq ft. of useable space, 
while residential parking requirements are 1.5 spaces per unit. The floor area of the retail level is 
recorded as; 4,522sq. ft. by Yavapai County. The total useable area will depend on the needs and 
wishes of the tenant upon renting, but generally should require 13-15 spaces potentially. The residential 
portion of the building will require 4.5 parking spaces, which rounded up as the TOJ Zoning Ordinance 
requires, comes out to 5 parking spaces. Total calculated parking requirements for this building will 
depend on the retail on the first floor, factoring in intensity of use as well as useable floor space as 
described in the TOJ  Zoning Ordinance. 
 



Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 
Code Compliance: 
Section 302.B.1. General Regulations: Zoning district regulations established elsewhere in this 
Ordinance specify that certain buildings, structures and uses of land may be authorized by the 
Commission as Permitted Conditional Uses in a given district subject to the provisions of this Section 
and to requirements set forth in district regulations. The Planning and Zoning Commission is 
empowered to make recommendations to the Town Council regarding granting or denying applications 
for use permits and to impose reasonable conditions upon them. Prior to becoming effective, all actions 
by the Planning and Zoning Commission concerning a use permit application must be acted upon by 
the Town Council in accordance with the provisions of subsection 302 E. 
 
Response: The Commission is “empowered” to make recommendations to the Council regarding 
granting or denying the proposed request and may add reasonable conditions.  
 
Section 302.D. Commission Actions and Findings: 
 
1. It is the express intent of this Ordinance that any use for which a Conditional Use Permit is 

required shall be permitted as a Principal Use in the particular zoning district, provided that 
all special conditions and requirements of this Ordinance are met. Therefore, the action of 
the Commission shall be one of approval or denial based upon its judgment as to whether 
the specified conditions have been or will be met. The Commission shall consider not only 
the nature of the use and the special conditions influencing its location in the particular 
district, but also the proposed location of buildings, parking and other facilities within the 
site, the amount of traffic likely to be generated and how it will be accommodated, and the 
influence that such factors are likely to exert on adjoining properties. The Commission may 
make such suggestions as it considers desirable and shall provide all possible guidance to 
the applicant in his preparation of application, plans, and data in such manner as to satisfy 
the intent of this Section.  

2. The Commission shall consider the application at their next regular meeting if the application 
was filed at least fifteen (15) days prior to such meeting. Otherwise it shall be carried over 
until the next regularly scheduled meeting. The Commission may reach a decision, continue 
the matter to a specified date (but not later than the next regularly scheduled meeting), or 
may set the matter for public hearing. Prior to holding a public hearing, a Neighborhood 
Meeting may be required in accordance with Section 306 of this Zoning Ordinance. If the 
Commission does set the matter for public hearing, notice thereof shall be given to the 
public by publication of a notice in the official newspaper of the Town and by posting the 
property included in the application not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing. The 
notice shall set forth the time and place of the hearing and include a general explanation of 
the matter to be considered and a general description of the area affected.  

3. In order to grant any use permit, the findings of the Commission must be that the 
establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use or building applied for will not be 
detrimental to the public health, safety, peace, convenience, comfort, and general welfare of 
persons residing or working in the neighborhood of such proposed use or be detrimental or 
injurious to property and improvements in the neighborhood or to the general welfare of the 
Town.  

4. The Commission may designate such conditions in connection with the use permit as it 
deems necessary to secure the intent and purposes of this ordinance and may require 
guarantees and evidence that such conditions are being or will be complied with. 

Candace Gallagher
I thought you were not doing resolutions for this meeting?



Page 3 of 8 
 

5. If the Commission finds that the application and supporting data do not indicate that all 
applicable conditions and requirements of this Ordinance will be met, it shall deny the 
permit. Notice of denial, including reasons therefore, shall be mailed to the applicant at the 
address shown in the application, and the Commission shall report its actions to the Council 
at its next regular meeting. 

6. If the Commission approves the application it shall direct the Zoning Administrator to draft a 
Conditional Use Permit setting forth all conditions and requirements governing such use, 
shall make the approved site plan a part of the record of the case, and shall submit the 
permit to the Town Council for action at Council’s next regular meeting. 

7. Failure of the applicant to comply with the conditions and safeguards which are a part of the 
terms under which a Conditional Use Permit is granted shall be deemed a violation of this 
Ordinance and punishable under Section 109. 

 
Recommendation: The Zoning Administrator requests that the Planning and Zoning 
Commission review/discuss the proposed application, add/modify conditions if necessary, and 
make a recommendation to the Town Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Candace Gallagher
This seems unnecessary and redundant.



Page 4 of 8 
 

3/21/2022 
 
To: Town of Jerome 
 
From: Dewayne Woodworth 
 
Re: Letter of Intent         123 Hill Street, Jerome              APN  401-07-169A 

   
  

Owner Danna Wakefield, Red Iron Construction LLC, is proposing the development of new 
residences with continued commercial/retail uses within the existing building at  
123 Hill Street.   Commercial/retail uses are being proposed for the first floor.  Two residences 
are proposed for the second floor.  A single residence is proposed for the third floor.  
 
The first floor will include two gallery spaces for local artisans on the North end of the building.  
There will be one employee for the galleries.   On the South end of the first floor, we are creating 
a day spa for Jerome tourist to enjoy while staying at our local hotels.  The day spa will have one 
or two employees.  The first floor will also include  
a management office and a utility room. 
 
The second floor will include two residences.  There will be a two bedroom and one bath unit on 
the North end.   There will be a one bedroom and one bath unit on the South end. 
 
The third floor will be a one bedroom and one bath open loft that will be owner occupied. 
 
The existing building has been recently painted.   New windows and doors have replaced 
existing for many of the existing openings.  New exterior fire escapes and exterior lighting will 
be provided at the West side of the building to provide proper egress for the residential units. In 
addition, we will be installing fire sprinklers and a fire panel to better protect the building.  
Parking with be decomposed granite.   Exterior walkways will be concrete.  New site walls will 
be exposed concrete to match existing.  
 
Our development team is working to preserve the history of the Club House and 2nd United 
Verde Hospital during the remodel and repair of this beautiful and historic building.  The goal is 
to have minimal impact on the historic aspects of the building and property to insure it will live 
on to be productive for another 100 years.   
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
 
 
Dewayne Woodworth 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Page 6 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Multiple views of 123 Hill Street 



Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 11 
 

           TOWN OF JEROME 
                      Post Office Box 335, Jerome, Arizona 86331 

                                            (928) 634-7943 

 

                                       Staff Report 
                                                    Planning and Zoning Commission 
                                                     Tuesday, April 19, 2022 
 
Item : 5 Renewed approval for accessory feature (Generator) 
Location:   103 Dundee Ave.  
Applicant/Owner:   Mike Gray / James Keenan 
Zone:    R1-5 
APN:    401-11-015M  
Prepared by:  Will Blodgett, Zoning Administrator 
Discussion/Possible Action  
 
Summary: The applicant requests preliminary and final design review to install a backup generator and 
a screen fence six (6) feet tall. The zoning ordinance does not specifically address the installation of a 
generator. However, the code does include approval criteria for fencing and accessory features in 
Section 304.F.1.k. and m. (see below). The generator will not be covered by a roof, is not enclosed with 
walls, and would not be considered an accessory structure or building. However, the applicant has 
agreed to meet (or exceed) the setback requirements of an accessory building. Section 502.H.7. 
requires detached accessory buildings to be located a minimum of five (5) feet from property lines and 
five (5) feet from the main structure. The proposed generator and fence will be set back at least 25 feet 
from the property lines.  
 
Use Interpretation: The home is located within the Town of Jerome’s R1-5, single family residential 
district which allows for “Customary accessory uses and buildings, provided such uses are incidental to 
the principal use” (TOJ Zoning Ordinance, Section 505.B.2.) Accessory use is defined in Section 201 
as; “a use incidental, related, appropriate and clearly subordinate to the main use of the lot of building, 
which accessory use does not alter the principal use of the subject lot or parcel.” 
  
Response: The Commission has authority to recommend approval of a use that is listed as a 
conditional use in the Town Zoning Ordinance. The Commission’s recommendation will be forwarded to 
Council for final approval. 
 
Background: The Project was previously approved by all review boards and permits issued. There are 
no changes to the design, location or materials from the previous version. 
 
Ordinance Compliance: The Planning & Zoning Commission (PNZ) shall review the applicant’s 
proposal for compliance with the code sections noted below.  
 
 

Rosa Cays
The boilerplate document (CUP for a microbrewery) is here in case you want to refer to it:�S:\Agendas Packets & Minutes\Planning and Zoning (P&Z)\Staff Reports\2021 P&Z Staff Reports\2021-09 Filename: 2020-09-15 PZ Staff Report CUP Microbrewery 416 Hull-rc-jk 

Rosa Cays
Kept this in but I don’t know if Mr. Hicks plans on serving food or not. 

Candace Gallagher
If you aren’t sure of his plans, I would not include a statement about his intentions. Good however to leave in the note about the limitation.

Candace Gallagher
I thought you were not doing resolutions for this meeting?

Candace Gallagher
This seems unnecessary and redundant.



Page 2 of 11 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 11 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 4 of 11 
 

Other considerations: The generator is powered by diesel fuel and could potentially be a fire 
hazard. The applicant met with Fire Chief Rusty Blair to discuss the generator, who has 
requested the construction of an eight (8)-inch curb to contain any fuel in the event of a leak. 
This curb is noted on the proposed plans.  
 
Recommendation: The zoning administrator recommends that the Planning and Zoning 
Commission approve project with the conditions included.  
 
Attachments: - Application and supplemental information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 11 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 6 of 11 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Page 7 of 11 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Page 8 of 11 
 

 



Page 9 of 11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 10 of 11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 11 of 11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	2022-04-19 PZ agenda_WB
	2022-02-16 PZ mtg_DRAFT minutes_FINAL
	2022-02-22 special joint-DRAFT minutes-km
	APPROVE: ATTEST:

	2022-03-16 PZ mtg DRAFT minutes _km
	(WB) 2022-04-19 PZ Staff Report CUP Apartments - 123 Hill St - Woodworth 
	(WB) 2022-04-19 PZ Staff Report Generator - 103 Dundee Ave - Keenan

